STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

01-29-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017AP001979 Winnebago County Circuit Court Case No. 2017TR005019

WINNEBAGO COUNTY,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LESA L. MAUS,

Defendant-Appellant.

AN APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION BEFORE THE HONORABLE JOHN A. JORGENSEN, JUDGE, WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

THE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT LESA L. MAUS

By: Walter A. Piel, Jr.

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant

State Bar No. 01023997

Piel Law Office 500 W. Silver Spring Drive Suite K-200 Milwaukee, WI 53217 (414) 617-0088 (920) 390-2088 (FAX)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did Deputy Shawn Glasel have the requisite level of 1.

suspicion to stop Ms. Maus' vehicle?

Answer: The trial court answered yes.

STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

Because this is an appeal within Wis. Stats. Sec.

752.31(2), the resulting decision is not eligible for publication.

Because the issues in this appeal may be resolved through the

application of established law, the briefs in this matter should

adequately address the arguments; oral argument will not be

necessary.

iii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

The defendant-appellant, Lesa Maus (Ms. Maus) was charged with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and with a prohibited alcohol concentration in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63 (1)(a) and (b), respectively, on March 30, 2017. The defendant, by counsel, entered a not guilty plea at the initial appearance, in writing on April 24, 2017. On June 15, 2017 the defendant, by counsel, filed a motion for suppression of evidence alleging an unlawful stop. A hearing on said motion was held on July 5, 2017, the Honorable, John A. Jorgensen, judge, Winnebago County presiding. An order denying defendant's motion was entered and signed on October 3, 2017. (R.22:1/ App. 1).

A trial to the court, before the Honorable John A. Jorgensen, judge, Winnebago County, was held on September 22, 2017. The court found Ms. Maus guilty of operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, but dismissed the operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration charge. A judgement of conviction was entered on September 22, 2017. (R.21:1).

The defendant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on October 3, 2017. (R.23:1-2).

The appeal herein stems from the finding of guilt, and specifically, the trial court denying the defendant's motion for suppression of evidence. The facts that are pertinent to this appeal were received through the testimony of Deputy Shawn Glasel at the motion hearing held on July 5, 2017.

The following testimony was adduced at said hearing. Winnebago County Sheriff Deputy Shawn Glasel, testified that he was a six year veteran of the Winnebago County Sheriff's Department. Glasel testified that on March 30, 2017, he was alerted through dispatch of a vehicle traveling the wrong direction, northbound in the southbound lanes, on Interstate 41 in Winnebago County. (R.30:3/ App. 2). The information was transmitted to Deputy Glasel from dispatch via a citizen witness. (R.30:4/ App. 3). Glasel learned from dispatch that the State Traffic Operation Center (STOC) was also viewing the vehicle through their cameras. *Id.* Apparently, STOC has cameras that line the roadway on Interstate 41, and STOC could monitor traffic in real-time.

Deputy Glasel testified that the original report of the vehicle did not provide a make or model of the vehicle, but did provide a color – beige. (R.30:5/ App. 4). STOC reported the vehicle going northbound in the southbound lanes, but they did

not give a description of the vehicle. (R.30:5/ App. 4). STOC advised Glasel that the vehicle exited the highway near the Highway 45 interchange and continued southbound on Algoma toward Oshkosh. (R.30:6/ App. 5).

When Deputy Glasel received the dispatch of the vehicle exiting, he was a short distance away headed southbound on I-41. *Id.* Glasel testified that he did not recall at what time this was happening, but it was a time when there were not a "lot of vehicles on the road." *Id.*

Glasel first saw Ms. Maus' vehicle as it was turning northbound onto I-41. (R.30:7/ App. 6). Glasel got behind Ms. Maus' vehicle and followed it for approximately one mile as it traveled northbound on Interstate 41. (R.30:9/ App. 7). Glasel testified that STOC was providing him updates as he got behind Ms. Maus' vehicle as she traveled northbound on Interstate 41.

Id. However, at no point did STOC communicate to Deputy Glasel that the vehicle that he was stopping was the correct vehicle. (R.30:10-11/ App. 8-9). As he followed Ms. Maus' vehicle for one mile on the camera laden portion of Interstate 41, at no point did he observe any deviant driving, and at no point did STOC indicate to Glasel that he was following the correct vehicle. (R.30:12/ App. 10). Nor is there any testimony that

Glasel attempted to contact STOC to assure he was following the correct vehicle. More significant, and in stark contrast to the initial call of a beige offending vehicle, Glasel acknowledged the vehicle driven by Ms. Maus was not beige, it was black. (R.30:9/ App. 7).

Subsequent to the stop, Glasel arrested Ms. Maus for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant.

Ms. Maus challenged the stop of her vehicle. As indicated *supra*, the court denied that motion on July 5, 2017, a written order having been filed on October 3, 2017. The court found that Glasel had reasonable suspicion to stop Ms. Maus' vehicle. (R.30:14-15, App. 11-12). The court stated that while it might have been a better practice to confirm that this was the vehicle that STOC observed, nevertheless, Deputy Glasel had sufficient articulable reasons to stop Ms. Maus. *Id.* The defendant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on October 3, 2017. The appeal herein stems from the Court's denial of the defendant's motion for suppression of evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether reasonable suspicion exists is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Powers*, 2004 WI App 143, ¶6, 275 Wis.2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869. The court applies a two-step standard of review when reviewing questions of constitutional fact. A trial court's finding of historical fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. However, determining whether a reasonable suspicion justified the stop is reviewed de novo. *Id*

ARGUMENT

A. DEPUTY GLASEL LACKED SPECIFIC ARTICULBLE FACTS THAT MS. MAUS' VEHICLE WAS THE VEHICLE TRAVELING THE WRONG WAY ON INTERSTATE 41

A traffic stop is a seizure under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. For a traffic stop to pass constitutional muster, it must be supported by reasonable suspicion. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60,¶10, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. It is well settled that the "temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a 'seizure' of 'persons' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." *State*

v. Gaulrapp, 207 Wis.2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct.App. 1996). Reasonable suspicion requires more than an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch." To satisfy the constitutional standard of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, an investigative traffic stop must be supported by either "probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, or an officer must have grounds to reasonably suspect that a violation has been or will be committed. State v. Popke, 2009 WI 37, ¶12, 317 Wis.2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. To meet the requirements of reasonable suspicion, an officer must point to "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant' the intrusion of the stop." *Post* at ¶10, citing to *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968).

"Probable cause refers to the 'quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe' that a violation has occurred." *Popke* at ¶14 citing to *Johnson v. State*, 75 Wis.2d 344, 348, 249 N.W.2d 593(1977). The evidence must be sufficient to "lead a reasonable officer to believe that guilt is more than a possibility." *Id*.

However, even if probable cause does not exist, an officer can conduct a traffic stop where "under the totality of the circumstances, he has grounds to reasonably suspect that a crime or traffic violation has been or will be committed." State v. Gaulrapp, 2007 Wis.2d 600, at 605, 558 N.W.2d 696. In this situation, an officer "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant' the intrusion of the stop." State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶10, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W. 634. "The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing or is about to commit a crime." *Id.* at ¶13. This standard requires that the stop be based on something more than an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968). "The determination of reasonableness is a common sense test." State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 citing State v. Anderson. 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990).

The facts adduced through the testimony of Deputy Glasel do not support a conclusion by a reasonable officer that Ms. Maus had committed, was committing or was about to commit a violation. First, the observations made by Deputy Glasel did not support a conclusion that Ms. Maus was or had committed a violation. Glasel specifically testified that he observed no traffic law violations.

Second, neither the anonymous call, nor the information relayed by STOC supported a conclusion that Ms. Maus was or had committed a violation. The initial vehicle description provided by the anonymous source (R.30:14/ App. 11) did not even match the type of vehicle that Ms. Maus was driving. The caller indicated that a beige vehicle was traveling the wrong way on Interstate 41. Deputy Glasel responded to the scene, and observed Ms. Maus' vehicle as it entered onto Interstate 41 in the correct direction. The caller provided no additional description of the vehicle other than that the color of the offending vehicle was beige. Glasel's testimony revealed that Ms. Maus' vehicle was black not beige.

Furthermore, Glasel followed Ms. Maus' vehicle for one mile and eventually stopped the vehicle. Glasel testified STOC provided information regarding the wrong way vehicle, prior to the stop. Despite, Glasel following Ms. Maus' vehicle for one mile on I-41, and despite the vehicle he was following being the wrong color, Glasel never confirmed with STOC that Ms. Maus'

vehicle was in fact the offending vehicle. Without this confirmation, it was unclear as to whether Ms. Maus' vehicle was the offending vehicle. What is clear is Ms. Maus' vehicle did not fit the minimal information communicated to Deputy Glasel through dispatch. At a very minimum, Deputy Glasel should have attempted to confirm with STOC that he had the correct vehicle, he did not do so.

To pass constitutional muster, Glasel's stop must have been based on specific and articulable facts. Based on the facts adduced at the motion hearing herein, a reasonable officer could not have concluded that Ms. Maus' vehicle was the offending vehicle. Glasel's stop of Ms. Maus' vehicle was based on nothing more than an "inchoate and unparticularized" hunch.

CONCLUSION

Because of the above, the Court erred when it denied Ms. Maus' motion. This Court should vacate the judgment of conviction and reverse the trial court's order denying Ms. Maus' motion.