# **RECEIVED**

03-30-2018

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

\_\_\_\_\_

WINNEBAGO COUNTY, Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No. 17AP1979

v.

LESA L. MAUS, Defendant-Appellant.

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

# ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION BEFORE HONORABLE JOHN A. JORGENSEN, JUDGE, WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

**Christian A. Gossett** 

District Attorney State Bar No. 1040212 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Eric D. Sparr

#### I. Statement of Issue Presented for Review

Whether Deputy Shawn Glasel had reasonable suspicion to stop Lesa Maus's vehicle. The trial court answered yes.

#### II. Statement on Oral Argument and Publication

The County is not requesting publication. Because the issues in this appeal are able to be resolved by application of existing law, oral argument is not necessary.

#### **III.** Statement of the Case

The County does not find any errors or misstatements in Ms. Maus's Statement of the Case, but does wish to include some additional information.

The original dispatch was on March 30, 2017, at 12:30 AM. (R. 30:6, R. App. 6). The State Traffic Operations Center ("STOC") provided updates on the wrong way vehicle approximately every minute. (R.30:8, R. App. 8).

STOC reported at some point that the vehicle of concern was getting onto Highway 41 northbound from Algoma. (R.30:9, R. App. 9). Dep. Glasel was asked how much time elapsed from the time he received that update until he saw the vehicle, and he indicated, "I was right behind the

vehicle entering the roundabout to go onto 41." (R.30:9, R. App. 9). Dep. Glasel indicated that at that point, it was the only vehicle in his vicinity. (R.30:7, 8, R. App. 7, 8). Dep. Glasel confirmed that STOC was basically describing what was occurring in front of him. (R.30:9, R. App. 9).

#### IV. Argument

The County agrees that a stop of Ms. Maus's vehicle required reasonable suspicion. *State v. Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis.2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct.App. 1996). An officer does not need to rule out innocent behavior prior to making a stop. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d 51, 59, 556 N.W.2d 681, 685 (1996), citing *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis.2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990). Under the totality of the circumstances, a traffic stop is warranted if the officer reasonably suspects that a crime or traffic violation has occurred. *Gaulrapp* at 605.

The County agrees that Dep. Glasel's observations alone were insufficient to justify a traffic stop. However, when considered along with the information being conveyed by STOC, there was reasonable suspicion to stop Ms. Maus's vehicle.

STOC was conveying in the moment updates about the location and behavior of the vehicle. STOC established that a vehicle was traveling in

the wrong direction on a highway. Stopping that vehicle would be justified, so the issue is whether there was reasonable suspicion that Dep. Glasel stopped the same vehicle. The description of the offending vehicle getting on to Highway 41 northbound, Dep. Glasel's presence at that very location, and the absence of any other vehicles nearby, leads to the conclusion that Dep. Glasel had reasonable suspicion to stop Ms. Maus's vehicle, even when balanced against the report of the concerned citizen, which described the wrong way vehicle as being a different color than the vehicle stopped. It is possible the citizen was incorrect about the color, and it is also possible that the citizen was describing a different vehicle. Those possibilities do not seriously call into question whether Dep. Glasel stopped the vehicle that STOC cameras observed committing a traffic violation.

The County concedes that some uncertainty could have been resolved by communication with STOC, and verifying explicitly that the vehicle stopped was the offending vehicle. Failing to do things in an ideal manner does not cause otherwise reasonable suspicion to evaporate. Further, verifying the appropriateness of the traffic stop, after it had already been effectuated, would not impact whether there was adequate suspicion for the stop at the time it was made.

#### V. Conclusion

Dep. Glasel's stop of Ms. Maus's vehicle was supported by reasonable suspicion, and the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.